Jefferson County Planning Commission
Agenda
February 22, 2021 meeting

7:00 P.M. – Zoom Video Conference
NOTICE is hereby given to any and all persons that the following will be considered at a Public Hearing by the
Jefferson County Regional Planning Commission to be held on Monday, Feb. 22nd, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. via Zoom
Video Conference. This meeting format is being utilized in the interest of public safety. All application materials
and reports will be posted online at https://www.jfcountyks.com/agendacenter (click on arrow next to Planning
Commission) no later than Wednesday, February 17.
To view or participate in the Zoom meeting, please request the meeting link by calling (785)403-0000, option
3, or emailing kwoodward@jfcountyks.com. You will be provided with instructions and given the option to
participate in a practice meeting in advance.
The County will provide a method for individuals without access to the internet or a telephone – and only
such persons – to observe or participate in the meeting from the Jefferson County Courthouse. Face masks are
required at all times inside all County facilities.
To provide written public comment: Written public comment must be received by the Planning and Zoning
Department by 3 pm on Monday, February 22 to be included in the meeting materials. Send correspondence
electronically to kwoodward@jfcountyks.com, or mail to P.O. Box 628, Oskaloosa, KS 66066, or place it in the
drop box by the south entrance of the Courthouse. Comments placed in the drop box should be marked for the
Planning Commission.
Item 1:

CALL TO ORDER

Item 2:

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

Item 3:

ROLL CALL

Item 4:

APPROVAL OF MINUTES – January 25, 2021 Meeting

Item 5:

PUBLIC HEARINGS
HEARING PROCEDURE:
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.
F.

I.

Item 6:
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Staff Report Presentation
Commission Questions of Staff Report
Applicant Presentation
Public Comment (Proponent then Opponent)
Applicant Rebuttal
Commission Action

SUBMITTAL OF EXHIBITS FOR THE
RECORD:
A.
B.
C.
D.

Jefferson County Zoning Regulations
Jefferson County Subdivision Regulations
Jefferson County Comprehensive Plan
All Visual Aid Presentations with Aerial
Maps, Site Plans, and Plats
E. All Application Files in their Entirety
Including Staff Reports

Z2021-01: A request to consider a change in zoning from Rural Residential to Agricultural (to
facilitate an associated Ag Split application) at property located at 19152 Wise Rd, Atchison, KS
66002. This request is brought by owners Mark and Carleita Domann located at 19152 Wise Rd,
Atchison, KS 66002.

COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC ON ITEMS THAT ARE NOT ON THE AGENDA

(Agenda Schedule Allowance: 30 minutes or 5 minutes per spokesperson)
Item 7:

OLD BUSINESS, GENERAL STAFF REPORT

Item 8:

NEW BUSINESS
I.
II.

Item 9:

Jefferson County KS Comprehensive Plan 2021 Review
Consider initiation of amendments to the Jefferson County Zoning Regulations pertaining to
the issuance of zoning certificates/building permits

ADJOURNMENT

Protest Petitions: Any protest petition must be filed in the Office of the County Clerk within 14 days from the conclusion of the public
hearing held by the Planning Commission.
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Jefferson County Planning & Zoning
Oskaloosa, Kansas
UNOFFICIAL
UNOFFICIAL MINUTES OF THE JEFFERSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION
Minutes of Planning Commission
Meeting of January 25th, 2021
*The below Minutes are a summation of the meeting that took place VIA ZOOM

Item 1.

Call to Order.

Item 2.

Approval of the Agenda

Commissioner Phillips moved to accept the agenda as presented and Commissioner Rudolph seconded.
Votes were taken by Ayes and Nays as follows:
Paul
Johnson
Chairman

Matt
Scherer
Secretary

DNV
Aye
Motion Passed 4-0
Item 3.

Item 4.

Stephen
Phillips

Gale
Rudolph

Tim
Benyshek

Vacant

Vacant

Aye

Aye

Aye

--

--

Tim
Benyshek

Vacant

Vacant

--

--

Roll Call

Paul
Johnson
Chairman

Matt
Scherer
Secretary

Stephen
Phillips

Gale
Rudolph

Present

Present

Present

Present

Present

Approval of the December 21st, 2020 meeting minutes

Chairman Johnson asked if there were any corrections for the minutes. Chairman Johnson asked for a motion to
approve the minutes. Commissioner Rudolph moved to approve the minutes as presented and Secretary Scherer
seconded.

Votes were taken by Ayes and Nays as follows:
Paul
Matt
Stephen
Gale
Johnson
Scherer
Phillips
Rudolph
Chairman
Secretary
DNV
Aye
Aye
Aye
Motion Passed 4-0
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Tim
Benyshek

Vacant

Vacant

Aye

--

--
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Item 5.

Public Hearing

Chairman Johnson explained the commission meetings procedures to the public and opened the public hearing.
Chairman Johnson asked if anyone had ex parte communications with someone involved in the case or if a member
has a potential conflict of interest regarding this case. No one had.
PR2020-10 and Z2020-08: A request to consider the final plat of the Hamilton Hill Subdivision. A 3-lot
subdivision generally located at the SW corner of Half Mound Rd and Clark Rd, where the smallest lot is 10
acres +/-. Also, a request for Lot 1 to remain zoned Agricultural, and to rezone Lots 2 & 3 from Agricultural to
Rural Residential. This request is brought by owners Steve and Michelle Hamilton located at 4827 Half Mound
Rd, Holton, KS 66436.
Chairman Johnson asked staff to give their report. Staff gave their report. After giving their report, Chairman
Johnson asked the board if they had any questions for staff.
Commissioner Phillips: If this were approved, and the 40-acre plot remained agricultural, would it still qualify for an ag
lot split itself since there's not been an ag lot split? Could we wind up with yet another parcel here.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): No, it's a platted lot and so if they were going to split it further, they would have to replat it
and it would come back to you again.
Commissioner Phillips: Thank you.
Secretary Scherer: I apologize for being an engineer, but the plat indicates there is 60.1 acres and you indicated there is
only 57 something I believe some reasonable discrepancy.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): It could be the amount that was in the right of way. I don't know for sure.
Secretary Scherer: I should have gone down though, because they have additional right of away instead of going up.
That's what I thought at first. Just curious.
Chairman Johnson: Other questions by commissioners?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Erin is checking to see what we show on the GIS as far as acreage, which may differ from
what the survey shows.
Secretary Scherer: Mr. Chairman, if I may, the only reason I'm concerned about it is because it's a minimum size for an
Ag lot, at 40 acres.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): They do get to count to the center of the right of way as part of their parcel for these purposes.
Let's see. We may need to come back to your question.
Chairman Johnson: A couple questions about the water supply here for this. What did you, what did the rural water
districts say that the applicant has 30 days to make a decision? And if not confirmed, and there may not be a meter
available?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Yeah, they are just saying that they have them available now. They'll guarantee them for that
long, but after that, if someone else comes along and asks for a meter, then that might impact availability at that time.
Chairman Johnson: So how does that play into whether a building permit can be issued?
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Kelly Woodward (Staff): We won't issue a building permit until it is available.
Commissioner Rudolph: So, I have a question, does that have to do with having the two-hour limitation? Is that for
well water only or is that if a water meter is placed on.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): It's just pertaining to the amount of water we expect the well to be able to produce per our
regulations, it has a minimum standard based on a two hour period that that they need the well needs to produce. And it
doesn't have anything to do with the water district requirement. Those are two different standards.
Commissioner Rudolph: Okay.
Chairman Johnson: But that two-hour test, Kelly, that two-hour test has not been performed at this point?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): It looks like they let it run over an hour period in their test report. It’s for the existing home
that's been there for years.
Chairman Johnson: Any further questions by commissioners at this point? If not, you have to help me with who?
Michelle? Michelle, thoughts or comments about staff presentation or questions raised at this point.
Michelle Hamilton (Applicant): Well, we were as far as the testing of our well, we've been here for 28 years, and we've
raised a family six of us in a household we've never had trouble with our well even in dry years so you know we just kind
of think that test that was done should be acceptable.
Steve Hamilton (Applicant): Our well is 52 feet deep, and we have water at 24 feet down, but it's the clay tile, it’s a clay
tile well so water only seeps through each joint it’s not a perforated pipe, so if it was perforated, it would pull, we would
have a lot more water. Now our neighbor just down the road, he just did his and he's about on the same plane as we are,
and he's getting 110 gallons a minute. They thought ours would easily do 60, but I can't get 60 because it doesn't, our
well just doesn't allow it, I mean, our piping or casing doesn't allow it so it only seeps through each seam of the tile, so
we have never had any problems with it.
Michelle Hamilton (Applicant): And too, as far as the water district, they didn't think it'd be a problem, you know, with
they don't have a lot of people wanting meters, but if there would be a problem, there always would be the option to draw
well, too, because it runs along the bottom there. So those were our main issues.
Chairman Johnson: So, if the applicant is good with the comments to this point, I will see if there's anyone who wants
to speak in favor of this particular case. Seeing none, on our virtual screen here. Is there anyone who would like to
speak in opposition to this particular case? Seeing none, at this point, I'll ask if there's anyone who might have neutral
comments about the case at this point? Seeing none, then we will close the public hearing portion of this case and see if
the commissioners or Kelly, have any other comments or questions on this particular case? Kelly?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Erin said that the acreage that shows on the GIS map, which is where I got the acreage, only
shows what the property owners are taxed on and it does not include the right of away. And so, the plat shows the exact
acreage that they actually contain, including the right of way.
Secretary Scherer: Thank you.
Chairman Johnson: That answer your question Matt?
Secretary Scherer: Yes, it did. Thanks.
Chairman Johnson: Any further comments or questions by commissioners for this case? Seeing none, then I'll accept a
motion on this case at this point.
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Kelly Woodward (Staff): I would just clarify that if you feel that they have provided sufficient proof of water supply,
you may approve what they have provided you without that condition of approval that I've recommended. I cannot
approve that, you know, as a zoning administrator because I don't have that same authority that you have, but that is
something you can do. You either can approve it with a condition or without the condition whatever you feel is right to
do.
Chairman Johnson: Well, I need a motion from somebody here.
Secretary Scherer: Mr. Chairman, this is Matt, I move that we recommend approval of Z2020-08 and PR2020-10 based
upon staff’s findings, and I am purposely leaving out the condition that was proposed.
Commissioner Phillips: Second.
Chairman Johnson: Any further comments by commissioners or questions at this point?
Secretary Scherer: Mr. Chairman, this is Matt, I guess I'm convinced mostly by the fact that the well’s been in use for
so many years probably requiring a test in this particular case, despite the fact that we fought real hard to get that
requirement, was probably worthwhile. It's probably a good exception.
Chairman Johnson: No other questions or comments or concerns?
Votes were taken by Ayes and Nays as follows:
Paul
Matt
Stephen
Gale
Johnson
Scherer
Phillips
Rudolph
Chairman
Secretary
DNV
Aye
Aye
Aye
Motion passed 4-0

Tim
Benyshek

Vacant

Vacant

Aye

--

--

PR2021-01: A request to consider the final plat of the Branded B Estates No. 2 subdivision, a replat of
Lot 7 of the Branded B Estates subdivision, located at the SW corner of 74th St and Hillcrest Dr, where
the smallest lot is 10.83 acres. This request is brought by owner Sandra Brown located at 7481 74th St,
Meriden KS, 66512.
Chairman Johnson asked if anyone had ex parte communications with someone involved in the case or if a member
has a potential conflict of interest regarding this case. No one had.
Chairman Johnson asked staff to give their report. Staff gave their report. After giving their report, Chairman
Johnson asked the board if they had any questions for staff.
Secretary Scherer: Mr. Chairman, this is Matt. I've got a couple actually. One I think I already know the answer to but
does the county have any obligation when you learn that there's a utility that's not within the easement. It’s on the
preliminary plat that there is a power line outside the easement. It’s noted by the surveyor.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Yeah. That's a good question, Matt.
Secretary Scherer: I personally suspect if Steve will put his hands over his ears, so he doesn't think I'm pretending to be
an attorney as well but that it’s probably between the utility and the landowner.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): I know it can be done by separate document if need be.
Secretary Scherer: I wanted to point it out since it was fairly clearly shown to everybody that it was outside the
easement.
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Kelly Woodward (Staff): Yeah, and I saw that there, too, I just didn't. It's not something that's in our code, you know,
that we have to necessarily provide for those kind of utility easements, so I didn't pursue it.
Secretary Scherer: Second question, though, is were there any conditions in the original approval back in 2006 that are
pertinent to this application?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): I don't believe so, but I'll have Erin recheck that.
Secretary Scherer: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Johnson: Any other questions by commissioners at this point for staff?
Chairman Johnson: Kelly, obviously, if you get any public comments on any of these cases, then those are listed or
made known to the planning commission?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): That's correct.
Chairman Johnson: So, since there was no mention of it, then the assumption is that there, there were no public
comments on this application.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Right. That's correct.
Chairman Johnson: There are no other questions by commissioners at this point. Do we have? Okay. So apparently,
the applicant at this point is not online with us so is there anyone else who would like to speak in favor of this
application?
Chairman Johnson: So, is there anyone who is opposed to this application? Seeing none, is there anyone who has a
neutral comment about this particular case? Seeing none. And one needs to unmute if they want to make a comment.
And I will close this portion of the public hearing and open it to questions by commissioners. Any questions by
commissioners at this point any further information or comments they have about this particular case? Seeing none, then
I will accept the motion at this point.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Erin affirmed there were no conditions previously.
Secretary Scherer: Thank you.
Chairman Johnson: So, I would accept a motion on PR2021-01?
Commissioner Benyshek: Paul, this is Tim here. I move that we approve PR2021-01 as presented.
Commissioner Rudolph: Second
Chairman Johnson: No other questions or comments or concerns?
Votes were taken by Ayes and Nays as follows:
Paul
Matt
Stephen
Gale
Johnson
Scherer
Phillips
Rudolph
Chairman
Secretary
DNV
Aye
Aye
Aye
Motion passed 4-0
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Tim
Benyshek

Vacant

Vacant

Aye

--

--
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CU2021-01: A request to consider a Conditional Use application to finish the upper floor of an
existing agricultural building as “multi-purpose seasonal residential space for agricultural use”.
This request is on property located at 13248 102nd St, Oskaloosa, KS 66066 and is brought by
owners Phillip and Sally Holman-Hebert of Sweetlove Farm at the same address.
Chairman Johnson asked if anyone had ex parte communications with someone involved in the case or if a member
has a potential conflict of interest regarding this case. No one had.
Chairman Johnson asked staff to give their report. Staff gave their report. After giving their report, Chairman
Johnson asked the board if they had any questions for staff.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Oh, I did forget to mention, I did send you an extensive public input letter that we received
from a neighbor and outlined for you what the basic objections were to the proposal. I hope you all got that email.
Chairman Rudolph: Is that the one where you tried to get ahold of her and clarify her meaning?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): We had just an old phone number from a previous permit from her, but we were not able to
reach her.
Chairman Johnson: Any questions by commissioners at this point for staff? Kelly could this be used as an Airbnb?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Are you asking me, Paul? Or did you want to ask the applicant?
Chairman Johnson: Let me start with you Kelly.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): He said as part of his application, his intent, he's noted stays for farm families, for instance. I
don't know if you consider that to be the same thing as an Airbnb, but I think he is, and you can ask him if that's what he
intends to do, but it wouldn't be like a separate use. It's sort of all encompassing. This is one residential space, and these
are the different uses he's proposing for it.
Chairman Johnson: Well, let me follow up with you, Kelly. How would, how would the county regulate it or would it?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): This is the regulation. If you approve the conditional use with the understanding that, you
know, he could let it be known that he has this little apartment space for people that want to come stay on the farm, and
have this farm experience and this learning experience, then that that would be a part of what you're approving tonight.
That would be an activity that we would expect to occur based on that.
Chairman Johnson: Thank you. So, does the applicant have comments or thoughts about staff’s presentation or
embellish it at this point?
Phil Holman-Hebert (Applicant): Are you asking me, Paul?
Chairman Johnson: I am asking you.
Phil Holman-Hebert (Applicant): I don't have anything to add. Really, I think that the report that was shared with me
and the group this evening is pretty thorough.
Chairman Johnson: Are there any questions by commissioners at this point for the applicant?
Commissioner Rudolph: Yeah, I'm just curious. Who is your target? For the enhancing? I know that you've covered
quite a range, but with this, would this reach into, like foster, you know, foster children that are wanting to expand, you
know, due to their limitations? Is this due to you know, what is the, I guess I'm trying to find to think about the whole
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picture of it such as, like, somebody would move in for just a couple of weeks to experience things, would there be a
season?
Phil Holman-Hebert (Applicant): Very good questions all. There's never been any discussion on this end of any kind
of care facility for, you know, either endangered or underprivileged populations, per se, in terms of fostering or anything
like that. You know, I would say the primary purpose behind this has been that, you know, for the last 13 years, we've
run all of our farm operations handling, poultry processing and egg processing through our kitchen, as per regulations by
the Kansas Department of meat, wholesaling, and regulations and all the stuff that we get from them. And we're limited
at this point by our facilities. And so really trying to grow the business along with our own personal mission of opening
up opportunities for young people to learn how to be farmers. And so the building on the first floor, as ag approved is
the first phase of, you know, sort of increasing our business by providing us with more larger professional facilities that
will allow us to generate a lot more product. The second floor then is, is sort of just for the educational mission of
sharing what goes on in the countryside and what goes on, on farms, what goes on on our farm in particular, with young,
you know, I say young people, I mean, I think college age kids, in the community of farmers that I am collegial with
around the country, interning is a pretty common thing that's done. We haven't had any place to keep interns in a way that
we thought was, you know, hospitable and respectable. And so the goal is to have a place that, you know, we can
provide board, if not room and board, for our, sorry, provide room, if not room and board, for young people who are just
starting out who don't have financial resources of their own, but want to learn. That's the goal behind the building, as we
envision it. And, you know, doing stuff with much smaller children, like summer farm camps, I mean, that's something
we would see as very seasonal. I mean, even the internships and the apprenticeships that we're talking about, I mean, we
run most of our poultry operation from March to Thanksgiving, so it's not a year-round thing. It's difficult to get people
to come and work for nine months of the year. Because they, you know, it's not a permanent place for them to have a job
so they can't stay there year-round, unless there's a place for them to stay. So we're just we're looking at this as an
accessory building to encourage and attract, you know, people that are really invested in learning about this and being
able to provide them with a respectable, humane place to live while they're doing it.
Chairman Johnson: Are there any further questions for the applicant at this point?
Secretary Scherer: Mr. Chairman, this is Matt. I have one. I noted that the rural water district just acknowledged that
you have a meter. With your experience with the service do you think you'll have any problems providing water to the
auxiliary building we're talking about in addition to your own home?
Phil Holman-Hebert (Applicant): I absolutely do not anticipate any problems with that. I mean, I think our current
water pressure is something like 75 psi, we get, you know, upwards of 30-40 gallons a minute. And I think I don't know
what the gallons per minute is, but it's never been an issue for water supply up here. And as far as I've been told by the
powers that be there should be plenty of supply to add to this building.
Secretary Scherer: Thank you.
Chairman Johnson: Other questions by the commissioners for the applicant at this point? Seeing none, is there anyone
who would wish to speak in favor of the application at this point? Seeing none, is there anyone who would oppose the
application at this point? Seeing none, is there anyone who would wish to make a neutral statement on this application?
Seeing none, with that, I'll close the public hearing portion, and see if the commissioners have any more questions for
staff or maybe the applicant at this point.
Chairman Johnson: I have a question for Kelly at this point. What? Should there be signage for this operation? Does
the comp plan speak to this type of conditional use?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): I think we have signage standards in the code. I haven't actually gotten into that much yet but
let me see. I think there is something for signage for conditional use.
Chairman Johnson: So why Kelly's looking at this, Phil I’ll ask you. So, you don't envision this being a just a shortterm weekend boarding opportunity?
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Phil Holman-Hebert (Applicant): No, I would say that is definitely one of the things that we envision. I think when I
think of, again, I'm riffing off of what I've seen other people around the country that are colleagues of mine doing, you
know, one of the ideas that we have as a possibility is a family farm stay where, you know, Mom and Dad and a couple
of kids could come in, stay for Thursday, Friday, Saturday, Sunday, or Wednesday through Saturday or whatever, get the
full experience of processing chickens, collecting eggs and packing and getting ready for farmers market and going to
farmers market, doing deliveries to our online customers, etc., stuff like that. And it'd be a short-term thing like that.
That's just one of the possible ideas that we could see using this building for which is I guess why we're terming it a
multipurpose. There are certainly things that we haven't thought of yet that probably it could be used for. And I would
say up to and even including you know, you mentioned earlier about an Airbnb. I mean, that's not something that hasn't
been, you know, floated as a possible use for this on our end of things. It's not an intention at this point. It's not
necessarily one of our goals, but it certainly could become that at some point in the future if that business opportunity
presented itself. But you know, just we're trying to trying to create a facility that will allow for the widest possible
number of uses to attract people to experience what it's like to be out in the countryside and be on a farm.
Chairman Johnson: And you might see using this space during the winter as well? March?
Phil Holman-Hebert (Applicant): You know, I guess my vision for that at the moment is that it would be pretty quiet
here. I mean, it's pretty quiet here during the winter, you know, it's farmland. So, you know, there's not necessarily
anything specific that I'm thinking of, I'm thinking of it more in terms of a March to, you know, March to Thanksgiving
sort of season, growing season type thing.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Um, as far as signage, I haven't even had a signage application yet, but we do allow signs in
the agricultural district. Let’s see, two ground signs, two wall signs, two arch signs. So, it would just be a separate
permit process for the signage, it's not included in the conditional use permit application.
Chairman Johnson: Okay. I thought I would ask. Any further questions for staff or the applicant at this point? If not,
I would entertain a motion by a Commissioner at this point on this case.
Commissioner Rudolph: Mr. Chairman, I do so move that we, I recommend that we accept the conditional use permit
for the, I lost the number, yes, I so move that we accept the recommendation. I'm sorry. CU2021-01.
Secretary Scherer: Second.
Chairman Johnson: Any further comments or questions by commissioners at this point?
Votes were taken by Ayes and Nays as follows:
Paul
Matt
Stephen
Gale
Johnson
Scherer
Phillips
Rudolph
Chairman
Secretary
DNV
Aye
Aye
Aye
Motion passed 4-0
Item 6.

Tim
Benyshek

Vacant

Vacant

Aye

--

--

Public Comment: There was none

Item 7.
Old business:
Kelly Woodward (Staff): We don't have any old business that I'm aware of. We only have one case that's been submitted
for next month. So, I was thinking it would be a good opportunity for us to start talking a little bit about the comprehensive
plan update and review, and to get some ideas from you guys about what are the primary issues that we need to be
researching and thinking about and getting public input on during that process? And maybe even talking about a strategy
for how we're going to update the plan and what kind of timeline or kind of steps we might want to take, and if you wanted
to even, you know, start looking around at some comprehensive plans of some other communities and getting some ideas
of issues that you think that we haven't addressed currently that you would like to see us address, that would be helpful as
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well. Everything that went to the County Commission in January from you all were approved. So those are all processed
and being finalized.
Chairman Johnson: Kelly and I communicated about, looks like we only have one plat, is that right for the February
meeting?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Actually, it's a rezoning case. I'm sorry, it's just rezoning a parcel just to set it up so that it can
be an Ag split. Rezoning back to Ag.
Chairman Johnson: So, it won’t take too long, then we'd have some other time to kind of dig into some thoughts about
the comprehensive land use plan in Jefferson County. And, and one thing Kelly mentioned to me, which I think would
make (inaudible) is, you know, we adopted the comprehensive land use plan in 2001, and then it was 2009 when we
brought in the zoning and subdivision regulations. And Kelly thought it might be helpful to have a comparative report of
how those two blended together at this point, and consistencies and inconsistencies with that, and then a general
discussion about how do we engage the community going forward? You know, what, kind of public hearings, you know,
how do we engage Jefferson Countians, to, you know, in my last (inaudible) would have been, I'm hoping this time that
we have a really coordinated, comprehensive plan with the zoning and subdivision regulations in line, so that we're in
sync, kind of moving forward, and how we see it develops.
Item 8.

New Business:

Chairman Johnson: So on to new business here, I have a couple items on that. The planning office sent me by
mail my packet for this meeting last Tuesday, and it never got to me. But my question for other commissioners is,
can you live without a paper copy? Can you read the cases online and feel comfortable with that? And would that
save some of the expense for the, I guess I should have asked Kelly, this, whether we're under any statute, or under
any regulations, that those packets have to be sent out in paper form?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): No. It can be whatever you want.
Chairman Johnson: Okay. So, I would say if anybody is good with getting the packets electronically, at this point, then
you should communicate that to the office at this point. Another item that has been on our agenda for a long time, and I
don't know if it speaks to this whole issue, since we don't have building codes and or building enforcement, I guess,
building code enforcement in Jefferson County, have we come to a conclusion about what is a minimum structure? And
I don't know if you call them small homes or small buildings? Are we any closer to closure on sorting through those
applications for the zoning office?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): So, are you talking about a tiny home on a foundation or a tiny home on wheels? Because
those would be two different issues, I guess, as far as our code currently reads. I'll probably ask Erin to jump in here too
whenever she feels like it because she handles more of that.
Chairman Johnson: Well, I mean, I know we've talked about it a lot in the past. And, you know, we didn't, I mean, and
then we'd get into if we rewrite the comprehensive plan in Jefferson County, and, you know, new zoning and subdivision
regulations, how that would impact. And it gets into this question of people, you know, who, who want to bring seasonal
workers? You know, onto, you know, specialty crop farms, etc. So, I don't think we have an answer to it tonight.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): So, what we do currently allow, is in the agricultural district, for a manufactured home to be
utilized for farm employees. So, they can have their own residence, and they can have a residence for farmworkers, we
have to have that kind of an agreement that states that's what that's actually being used for. Otherwise, you can build any
size house as long as it's on a permanent foundation, but, but we don't really allow a tiny house that's built on a trailer at
this point. So if that was something you wanted to allow, we would have to look at that again, because right now we're
just treating them the same as an RV, basically.
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Commissioner Benyshek: This might be a silly question, but do we have a tiny home? Do we have a tiny home
pandemic in Jefferson County, that people are building them left or right? I mean, I’m just asking, because I don't see a
lot of requests through the banks for a tiny home or a tiny home village proposal, that's all?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Well, and I think we would allow them in a, like subdivision format, if they were in a group of
them, it's just where it gets a little more difficult is when that's the primary residence. And, you know, I think it was, it's
kind of like one of those hot topics that kind of pop up that people think is really popular as a way to provide for
affordable housing, there's, I think what's really happening, we've had a lot of requests for people that either want their
parents or their kids to live on the same property with them, and their property is configured in such a way that it can't be
split again. And so we don't really have a way for them to have an accessory dwelling on the property. Well I guess we
have a thing that you could get a conditional use permit for an accessory apartment. That's the only way right now that
we provide for two living, for two dwelling units on a property. So I think, you know, that's more of what we see when
people need help, you know, when they're getting older, or maybe they're infirm, and they just want someone to live
there and help them out.
Chairman Johnson: Don’t the utilities have to be tied between the primary residence that if you build that auxiliary, or
unit on on your land?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): I didn't catch that question. But I think Erin did. She says yes to whatever you said.
Chairman Johnson: I think the key thing that Kelly said to me is the affordability question. And, you know, it really
gets into, you know, what can lower income Kansans afford in terms of, you know, of new construction at this point?
And when I, I think it's something that housing is the key problem in this state, in many ways. And I think, you know,
it's best for us to kind of walk through what scenarios would make sense and would fit for this county?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Yeah, I think it would be good to, to kind of open it as a broad topic, like, what kind of
housing, different diverse range of housing, could we accommodate in the county and still be in character?
Commissioner Rudolph: And my question is, I remember the last time I was at the office, there were several maps
showing lots of homes that were abandoned or up for sale on the east side of the lake and some of those housing units,
and, you know, I kind of see that as a little bit of a problem as well.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Mm hmm. Yeah, I think that's a whole big area too that needs to be looked at, even for
economic development purposes is, what do we do with those underutilized lots and those existing subdivisions? How
can we help them improve and sell and be utilized?
Chairman Johnson: Right, do we have an inventory in this, this county of how many undeveloped, for example, rural
residential lots we have?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): That's something we can definitely, you know, research for you.
Secretary Scherer: Your predecessors did that about a year and a half ago. Maybe two years.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): We probably want to update it. So undeveloped lots of different ranges of sizes? Is that how it
was?
Chairman Johnson: How much were platted that were never developed?
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Okay, yeah, we can do that for sure.
Chairman Johnson: And then is there a way then to, instead of cutting out even more, you know, ag land or whatever,
you know, we don't, we steer people towards, you know, already buildable lots? You know, I know, it's, I know people
have an idea of the exact place they want to live or the perfect circumstances. So, I understand that. But okay, any other
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thoughts about new business at this point? I'll just reiterate that the February meeting, is that one case, we're going to,
we're going to spend some time talking about the comp plan issues and ideas about kind of new next steps.
Commissioner Rudolph: If we have an idea, can we just kind of, like send it in for Kelly, and for Erin, you know, just
maybe put it into an agenda or list it alphabetically?
Chairman Johnson: That would be great. Any comments or feedback is, you know, we move towards the February
meeting. Now, that would be tremendous.
Commissioner Phillips: I would really like to see examples of comp plans, from other areas, so I have an idea of what
we're talking about.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): So, we could probably create a Dropbox with some links, or I could just send links out to some
different plans if you would like.
Chairman Johnson: Well, we got a lot of counties to look at in Kansas, you know, so we're not inventing the wheel
here. What’s the uniqueness of Jefferson County where we set and, you know, holding on to the agricultural base, and
then, you know, quite honestly, we're a commuted county in the most part, so how does that all fit together?
Secretary Scherer: If we can look at Marion County, I would appreciate it. I've always felt like it was sort of similar to
Jefferson County.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Marion County. Where is that?
Secretary Scherer: It’s just east of McPherson County.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Okay. Didn't want to get the wrong thing.
Chairman Johnson: You know, for what it's worth I’ve looked at (inaudible) 2040 for what's going to happen to
counties, you know, only 22 of the counties in Kansas are going to grow between now and 2044. And Marion County
drops 45%. Since I grew up in McPherson, you know, the thing about it, McPherson is going to drop about 10%.
Kelly Woodward (Staff): Hopefully we'll have some census data that we can use to update the plan. You know,
eventually.
Chairman Johnson: They're struggling. We're all waiting for some of that census data. I’ll entertain a motion for
adjournment. Meeting Adjourned.
Item 9.
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Adjournment – 8:30 PM

Minutes taken by:

___________________________________
Erin George

Approved:

___________________________________
Date

Chairman:

___________________________________
Paul Johnson

Secretary:

___________________________________
Matt Scherer III
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PLANNING COMMISSION STAFF REPORT
MEETING DATE: February 22, 2021
PREPARED BY: Kelly Drake Woodward, AICP

AGENDA ITEM: PUBLIC HEARING I

Z2021-01: A request to consider a change in zoning from Rural Residential to Agricultural (to facilitate an associated
Ag Split application) at property located at 19152 Wise Rd, Atchison, KS 66002. This request is brought by owners
Mark and Carleita Domann located at 19152 Wise Rd, Atchison, KS 66002.
Date of Application: 01/14/2021
Type of Request: Rezoning
Owner/Applicant: Mark and Carleita Domann
Address: 19152 Wise Rd, Atchison, KS 66002
General Location:
NE corner of Rogers Rd and Wise Rd
CAMA #:
044-018-33-0-00-00-007.00-0
Site:
AG and RR
Existing Zoning:
North: AG
East:
AG
South: AG, RR
West: AG
Site:
Agriculture and Farm homesite
Existing Land Uses:
North: Agriculture
East:
Agriculture
South: Agricultural
West: Agricultural and Farm homesite
Lot Size:
77.44 +/- Acres
Notification:
Published and notified as required
Floodplain:
None
Roads Report:
See attached Letter from Jefferson County Road and Bridge Department
Water:
See attached letter from Rural Water District No. 12
Wastewater:
See the attached letter from the Jefferson County Health Department
Ag Enhancement:
Entire parcel in Ag Enhancement area
Commercial/Industrial: None
Prior
Formerly the property around the house and pond consisted of approximately 30
Application/History:
acres of land zoned Rural Residential, and the remainder of the subject property was
part of a 125-acre parcel to the east (now 80-acre parcel) that was zoned
Agricultural. It appears that the subject parcel was enlarged to the current size as
part of a boundary-shift sometime after the adoption of the current regulations.
Both resulting parcels meet lot standards, however, the original RR parcel was never
rezoned to AG, resulting in two zoning designations on the subject parcel. Now the
applicant wishes to apply for an AG Lot Split to split off a 3-acre lot around the
house, however this cannot be done unless the entire parcel is zoned AG.
EXISTING CONDITIONS:
The subject property is located at the northeastern edge of Jefferson County, and is bounded by Wise Rd on the
west and Rogers Rd on the south. There is an existing home, several outbuildings and a grain bin located on an area
planned for a future 3-acre Agricultural Lot Split application, and agricultural outbuildings and a grain bin located
on the remainder of the subject property near a pond. The north and south portions of the property are cultivated.
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APPLICATION HIGHLIGHTS:
The proposed rezoning would remove the RR zoning designation from the center (approx. 30 acres) of the parcel
and change the entire parcel (approx. 80 acres) to AG zoning. It is anticipated the parcel will remain in agricultural
use and the house will be split off on a smaller 3-acre parcel via a future Agricultural Lot Split application.
The Agricultural (Ag) District is the most restrictive (or least intensive) district, followed by the Rural Residential (RR)
District. Single-family dwellings are permitted by right in both the AG and RR districts. While agricultural uses may
be considered a principal use in the AG district, they are considered an accessory use in the RR district. Conversely,
while residential uses may be considered an accessory use in the AG district, they are considered the principal use
in the RR district. The effect of the proposed zoning is to accommodate higher intensity agricultural uses and
structures. Both districts are subject to the same performance standards. A greater variety of accessory uses are
permitted in the AG district than the RR district, such as open or enclosed storage of farm materials, products or
equipment; use of a manufactured home as an accessory dwelling for farm employees; fuel storage and dispensing
equipment; and wholesale or retail sales of agricultural products grown or raised on the premises.
CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:
The entire subject property is located in the “Ag Enhancement” area per the Comprehensive Plan. Soils are 2e, 3e
and 4e. The rezoning will help to preserve larger areas for farmlands outside the area of influence of cities or areas
facing development pressures. The desired agricultural density ratio of 1 unit per 40 acres is preserved, contributing
to rural character.
The subject property is not in an area with known Sensitive Habitat areas, and is not designated with Natural
Features/Cultural Attributes that are meant to be preserved.
Wise Rd and Rogers Rd are both indicated in the Comprehensive Plan as a Rural Major Collector roadways where
they abut the subject parcel. This type of roadway requires a total of 100’ right-of-way (ROW) per the Major
Thoroughfare Plan of the Comprehensive Plan; additional right-of-way will need to be dedicated on both roads at
time of land division or development.
INFRASTRUCTURE, TRAFFIC AND OTHER CONSIDERATIONS:
The Jefferson County Health Department indicates that the wastewater system to the existing house is failing, but
there should be no problem installing the new system they have applied for. There is also no problem installing an
additional system should the subject parcel be split in the future.
Rural Water District No. 12 indicates that the existing house is served by a benefit unit, and additional benefit units
are available at this time.
The Road and Bridge department indicates additional driveways may be possible, and existing entrances meet
current standards.
STAFF ANALYSIS - APPLICATION:
ARTICLE 30 REZONING FACTORS:
a. Whether the change in classification would be consistent with the intent and purpose of these regulations;
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Staff Comment: The intent of the AG district is to provide for a full range of agricultural activities on land
used for agricultural purposes, and thus this proposed rezoning is consistent.
b. The character and condition of the surrounding neighborhood and its effect on the proposed change;
Staff Comment: This is a very low-density rural area with mostly agricultural uses. The proposed change
makes the subject property more consistent with the surrounding neighborhood.
c. Whether the proposed amendment is made necessary because of changed or changing conditions in the
area affected, and if so, the nature of such changed or changing conditions;
Staff Comment: Staff is unaware of changing conditions in the area; the application is proposed to
accommodate a future AG Split application.
d. The current zoning and uses of nearby properties, and the effect on existing nearby land uses upon such a
change in classification;
Staff Comment: This change in classification will make the subject parcel consistent with nearby zoning
districts and uses.
e. Whether every use that would be permitted on the property as reclassified would be compatible with the
uses permitted on other property in the immediate vicinity;
Staff Comment: The proposed reclassification would result in all parcels in the immediate vicinity being
zoned AG with identical requirements.
f.

The suitability of the applicant’s property for the uses to which it has been restricted;
Staff Comment: The subject property is suitable for continued agricultural uses.

g. The length of time the subject property has remained vacant or undeveloped as zoned; provided, the use
of land for agricultural purposes shall be considered as viable use of the land and not be considered as
allowing the land to be vacant or undeveloped;
Staff Comment: As agriculture is considered a viable use of land, and there is also a residence and various
outbuildings on-site, the site is not considered vacant or undeveloped as zoned.
h. Whether adequate sewer and water facilities, and all other needed public services including transportation,
exist or can be provided to serve the uses that would be permitted on the property if it were reclassified;
Staff Comment: All public services are currently available.
i.

The general amount of vacant land that currently has the same zoning classification proposed for the
subject property, particularly in the vicinity of the subject property, and any special circumstances that
make a substantial part of such vacant land available or not available for development;
Staff Comment: Most adjacent properties have unimproved land in agricultural use. This property is not
proposed for additional development – this is considered a downzoning to a less intense district.

j.

The recommendations of permanent or professional staff;
Staff Comment: Staff recommends approval as proposed.

k. Whether the proposed amendment would be in conformance to and further enhance the implementation
of the Comprehensive Plan;
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Staff Comment: This amendment is consistent with the implementation of the Comprehensive Plan.
l.

Whether the relative gain to the public health, safety, and general welfare outweighs the hardship imposed
upon the applicant by not upgrading the value of the property by such a reclassification; and,
Staff Comment: This reclassification does not negatively impact the public health, safety and general
welfare. It solves a problem of having two zoning districts on one parcel, extends a more appropriate zoning
designation, and prepares the property for an appropriate Ag Split application.

m. Such other factors as may be relevant from the facts and evidence presented in the application.
Staff Comment: None.
ATTACHMENTS:
A. Notification maps and letter
B. Floodplain map
C. Ag Enhancement Area map
D. Water District letter
E. Jefferson County Health Department letter
F. Jefferson County Road and Bridge Department letter
ACTION:
After holding the required public hearing, the Planning Commission shall prepare a recommendation to do one of
the following:
1. Approve the Rezoning.
2. Approve the Rezoning with conditions as offered by the applicant.
3. Deny the Rezoning with findings of fact.
4. Continue the application to allow further analysis.
EFFECT OF DECISION:
The proposed Rezoning, if approved by the County Commission, shall become effective upon publication of the
adopting resolution.
RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval of the application as proposed.
Recommended motion:
After review of a Zoning District Amendment (Rezoning) application for an approximately 77.45-acre parcel of land
located at the northeast corner of Rogers Rd and Wise Rd, the Planning Commission recommends approval of
application Z2021-01 as proposed based on findings in the staff report.
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www.jfcountyks.com/planningandzoning

300 Jefferson St
P.O. Box 628
Oskaloosa, KS 66066

Toll Free: (844) 679-0748
Phone: (785) 403-0000
Fax: (785) 403-0783

Date of Notice: 01/26/2021
Dear Property Owner:
NOTICE is hereby given to any and all persons that the following will be considered at a Public Hearing by the
Jefferson County Regional Planning Commission to be held on Monday, Feb. 22nd, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. via
Zoom Video Conference. This meeting format is being utilized in the interest of public safety. All application
materials and reports will be posted online at https://www.jfcountyks.com/agendacenter (click on arrow next to
Planning Commission) no later than Wednesday, February 18.
To view or participate in the Zoom meeting, please request the meeting link by calling (785)403-0000, option
3, or emailing kwoodward@jfcountyks.com. You will be provided with instructions and given the option to
participate in a practice meeting in advance.
The County will provide a method for individuals without access to the internet or a telephone – and only
such persons – to observe or participate in the meeting from the Jefferson County Courthouse. Face masks are
required at all times inside all County facilities.
To provide written public comment: Written public comment must be received by the Planning and Zoning
Department by 3 pm on Monday, February 22 to be included in the meeting materials. Send correspondence
electronically to kwoodward@jfcountyks.com, or mail to P.O. Box 628, Oskaloosa, KS 66066, or place it in the
drop box by the south entrance of the Courthouse. Comments placed in the drop box should be marked for the
Planning Commission.
Z2021-01: A request to consider a change in zoning from Rural Residential to Agricultural (to facilitate
an associated Ag Split application) at property located at 19152 Wise Rd, Atchison, KS 66002. This
request is brought by owners Mark and Carleita Domann located at 19152 Wise Rd, Atchison, KS
66002.
You are receiving this letter in compliance with the Kansas State Statute 12-757 and in accordance with Article
30-102 of the Jefferson County Zoning Regulations, which requires notice be given to “…all owners of record of
lands located within at least 1,000 feet of the area proposed to be altered.…”
Please be aware that attendance at the public hearing is not limited to those individuals who have received copies
of this notice. If you know of any neighbor or other potentially affected property owner who did not receive a
copy of this notice, it would be appreciated if you would inform them of this public hearing.
The Planning Commission may continue consideration of this matter at the conclusion of the public hearing to a
future date without further notice.
Respectfully,

Kelly Drake Woodward, AICP
Community Development Director
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Erin George
Planner II
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RURAL WATER DISTRICT NO. 12
Jefferson County, Kansas
216 Winchester St.
Winchester, KS 66097

TEL: (913)774-2872
FAX: (913)774-2835
EIVIAIL-xwate»12@)emba»amaiI.com

AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
October 13,2020
Jefferson County Planning & Zoning

PO Box 628
Oskaloosa, KS 66066
RE: Rural Water AvailabiIity-Mark/Carleita Domann
To Whom It May Concern:
Please be advised that at this time domestic water service is available from
Jefferson County Rural Water District No. 12, for a "Remaining Tract" of
76.90 acres, located in the Southwest Quarter (SW 'A} of Section 33,
Township 7 South, Range 20 East of the 6th PM., Jefferson County, Kansasd,
owned by Mark and Carleita Domann. The 3 acre "Lot" has a benefit unit
servicing it.
Benefit units are available in said area at this time, but this is in no way a
guarantee that they will be available in the future. All new benefit units
must be approved by the Board of Directors for Jefferson County Rural Water
District No. 12.
Please feel free to contact me at the District Office if you have any
questions.

Sincerely,
Denise Eggers,
Office Manager
Cc: Steve Tufte
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1212 Walnut Street
Oskaloosa. KS 66066-4200

efferson
I ^yeuerson
^^
COUNTY

(785)8632652

HEALTH DEPARTMENT Home Heatth,&HOLPlce.Fa;
HOME HEALTH & HOSPICE jeffersoncoum"yheak'h^m

December 11,2020

Mark & Carleita Domann
P.O. Box 621
Oskaloosa,KS 66066
RE: Environmental Consult
Mark & Carleita Domann

19152 Wise Rd.
Atchison, KS 66002 (33-07-20)
The Jefferson County Health Department received a request for an Environmental Consult to
split 3 acres from the above referenced parcel.
I There is an existing house and a failing wastewater system that will be located on the 3 acres.
I There should be no problem installing a new wastewater system on the 3 acres and meeting all
J the required setbacks. A wastewater system permit application has already been applied for to
j replace the failing system.
,i

I There should be no problem installing a wastewater system on the remaining 76.90 acres and
I meeting all required setbacks.

i

j If you have further questions, please feel free to contact me.
!:s

Sijpcer^y,
^
S(

I Jofln Heston, Environmental Specialist
I Jefferson County Health Department
:'j

I JH:kh

II Cc: American Surveying / Steve Tufte
•<

s

I

MyFiles/Letters/consult.ltr.wpd
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ROAD DEPARTMENT
P.O. BOX 322

OSKALOOSA, KS 66066
PHONE (785)403-0279
FAX (785) 863-3026

BENDOMANN
PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR
October 16, 2020

American Surveying

7531 US 59 Hwy
Oskaloosa, KS 66066
Re: 044-018-33-0-00-00-007.00-0

S33,T07,R20, Acres 77.45
Domann Ag Split
Dear Mr. Tufte:
After reviewing the above, my findings are:
1. The existing entrance at 19152 Wise Rd on the East side of Wise meets current Road
Dept. Standards of 30' width for a residential entrance.
2. The existing entrance approx. 140ft N of 19152 Wise Rd on the East side of Wise
meets current Road Dept. Standards of 30' width for a residential entrance.
3. It is possible for other entrances along Wise Rd and Rogers Rd but any future
entrance must be reviewed before installation due to the limited sight distance (i.e.
curves, hills) and materials needed.

If you have any further questions, please call.

Phil Hoffman
Superintendent
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PLANNING AND ZONING DIVISION

Memo: Item 8 New Business I
To:

Planning Commission

From: Kelly Drake Woodward, AICP
Date:

February 22, 2021

RE:

Jefferson County KS Comprehensive Plan 2021 Review

Please review the provided Plan Compatibility Report for discussion at the meeting. This is the first step
in the 2021 review of the Comprehensive Plan.
The Plan and Regulations can be found here:
https://www.jfcountyks.com/422/Regulations-Plans

Jefferson County Courthouse
P.O. Box 628
300 Jefferson St.
Oskaloosa, KS 66066
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www.jfcountyks.com/291/Planning-Zoning
Phone (785)403-0000, Opt. 3
Fax (785) 403-0783

PLAN
COMPATIBILITY
REPORT

February 2021

Jefferson County, KS
This report explores how well the current Zoning and Subdivision Regulations
align for implementation of the Jefferson County KS Comprehensive Plan.
The information may inform a discussion on potential updates to the plan
and/or regulations to better support evolving community goals.
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Plan Compatibility Report
J E F F E R S O N C O U N T Y, K S

INTRODUCTION TO PLANS AND REGULATIONS
Jefferson County, KS Comprehensive Plan
It is important to remember that community plans are not regulatory, but are meant as a decision-making
guide. Comprehensive Plans are intended to reflect a long-term vision and to establish a policy framework.
The vision of the plan is typically implemented via administrative actions, strategic projects involving public
or private investments, and the enforcement of adopted regulations.
Plan Background
This plan was first adopted twenty years ago on March 27, 2001, with further revisions in 2003 (Case
Z2004-31, adopted the Land Evaluation and Site Assessment (LESA) scoring system) and 2009 (Case 200910, added a Commercial/Industrial Area Map). The following is an introduction to the contents of the Plan:
•
•
•
•
•

•

Chapter 1– Existing Conditions: Highlights land use patterns, municipal service capacity,
development capacity, natural features, public facilities, and environmental assets.
Chapter 2 – Demographic and Land Use Trends: Includes population, economic, and housing
assessments.
Chapter 3 – Goals, Objectives and Policy Steps: Will be further explored in this document along with
related regulations that are intended to implement the plan.
Chapter 4 – Policies: Pertains to transportation systems, land use and growth management,
conservation and preservation of farmland and natural, cultural and historic features.
Chapter 5 – Implementation: Includes recommendations addressing development review,
enforcement, annexation, multi-jurisdictional cooperation, and the LESA system for land evaluation
and site assessment.
Plan Appendices – Reference materials pertaining to cluster development, ag buffer zones,
public/private financing, environmental features, and the Commercial/Industrial map.

Jefferson County, KS Zoning and Subdivision Regulations
Community vision evolves over time. Regulations are one tool for implementing the vision of the
Comprehensive Plan. Regulations impact implementation of the plan incrementally as new development
occurs. Therefore, current development patterns may not reflect the latest community vision. Change is the
necessary catalyst to bring the community vision to life. The vision is achieved more quickly in communities
that are rapidly developing.
The current Jefferson County Zoning Regulations and Subdivision Regulations were first adopted on March
2, 2009 (8 years after the Comprehensive Plan was adopted) and both documents have since been
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amended. The following sections introduce the most relevant elements of these regulations that shape future
development.
Zoning Regulations Background
The Regulations provide for one Agricultural District, five Residential districts, three Commercial districts,
two industrial districts, and three special purpose districts related to an airport, floodplains and floodways
with various descriptions and statements of intent as found in the Appendices. Although the Zoning
Regulations provide for 11 base zoning districts and three overlay zoning districts, most of the land in the
County is classified as Agricultural (86.7%) or Rural Residential (10.2%) districts. Suburban Residential
makes up 2.4%; all other residential districts are 0.62%, and commercial/industrial districts are 0.05%.
This analysis does not include land that is for government/public use or nonconforming parcels. See
Appendices for charts illustrating distribution per zoning district.
The Regulations provide for Planned Zoning Districts and Conditional Uses. Planned districts are intended
to add flexibility for the approval of relatively large tracts of land for fully planned, coordinated and
orderly development. Conditional Uses are applicable to the conversion of relatively small parcels of land
for specific uses that may be subject to conditions of approval to ensure compatibility.
Currently Jefferson County GIS analysis indicates there are 108 parcels zoned for Commercial Districts,
and 59 parcels zoned for Industrial Districts. These lots could be used for any permitted uses in the
applicable zoning districts without going through a zoning amendment. Many more parcels are permitted
for Conditional Uses (that may be commercial or industrial in nature) in agricultural or residential zoning
districts. Any change in use on these lots would be subject to the zoning amendment process. Applicants
for commercial uses have a choice to request a rezoning to a Planned Commercial District, or to apply for
a Conditional Use Permit. Either way, approval of a development plan is required. However, when the
Planning Commission and County Commission contemplate approval of a rezoning application, they must
consider the compatibility of all potential uses, rather than a specific use, in that zoning district. When
contemplating approval of a Conditional Use, decision-makers are basing their decision on a very specific
use as presented, and they may impose conditions of approval to help mitigate any special circumstances.
There are performance regulations that apply to groups of zoning districts. Some of these performance
standards are related to perceived impacts, and some are standards for specific uses. There are also
performance standards for all Conditional Uses. Some Conditional Uses have additional specific standards
of approval.
The Zoning Regulations provide the following categories of discretionary decision criteria that should
support implementation of the Comprehensive Plan and be consistent with statutory requirements if
applicable:
• Development Plan Approval (applies to Planned Zoning Districts and Conditional Use Permits)
• Variances (limited flexibility based on statutory requirements)
• Special Exceptions (specific buildings and uses allowed in special circumstances)
• Amendments such as a change in zoning classification or granting of a Conditional Use
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Subdivision Regulations Background
Typically, land division regulations provide that lots that were legally subdivided or platted prior to the
effective date of current regulations are legal nonconforming (grandfathered) lots that may be buildable
provided current requirements such as building setbacks are met. These privileges would not extend to lots
that were not legally created or did not meet the standards in effect at the time the lot was created. The
Jefferson County Subdivision regulations provide that all individual lots identified by specific deed as of
the effective date of the current regulations on March 12, 2009 (not necessarily legally created lots) are
considered a building lot provided the requirements of the Jefferson County Environmental Code can be
met. After the effective date of the current Subdivision Regulations, all further land divisions must conform
to current Zoning and Subdivision Regulations and other applicable standards.
The Subdivision Regulations provide exemptions for land divisions resulting in parcels that are 40 acres or
more where subdivided for agricultural or single-family purposes, and for boundary shifts, among other
actions. However, the Zoning Administrator must still ensure specified standards such as minimum frontage
on a public road and flood hazard area protection are met, and must indicate in writing that such
applications are exempt.
Divisions of land into lots less than 40 acres may be achieved via the plat or lot split processes. During or
prior to the platting process, lots must be zoned/rezoned appropriately based on proposed lot size.
However, the Subdivision Regulations provide for a simpler administrative land division process called an
Agricultural Lot Split that allows the creation of one additional lot on properties of at least 40-acres in size
that are zoned and used as agricultural lands and have not been previously split. This process may result
in substandard size lots (less than 40-acre minimum) retaining the Agricultural zoning designation, however
the resulting lots must meet the applicable minimum road frontage and other dimensional lot standards
based on the resulting lot size. For example, resulting lots at least 10 acres but less than 40 acres in area
must meet the dimensional standards of the Rural Residential District, and resulting lots under 10 acres in
area must meet the dimensional standards of the Suburban Residential District.

OVERALL THEMES OF THE JEFFERSON COUNTY, KS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN
The Plan explores the cumulative effect of different development patterns and trends that may emerge in
rural areas, and the benefits of maintaining agricultural lands and a rural “sense of place”. Participants in
the planning process discussed future land use, economic development, and a sense of place.

Policy Context
The Executive Summary suggests a policy context as follows:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Balance property rights with community rights
Define and preserve a sense of place in rural areas
Encourage growth in small cities and areas of urban influence
Use a Land Evaluation and Site Assessment (LESA) system to evaluate non-residential growth in rural
areas
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Emerging Themes
Rural sense of place or character is a recurring theme of the Comprehensive Plan. The Plan does not offer
a specific vision for rural character, but does offer some clues as follows:
• Open fields with scenic views
• Nature-related passive recreational opportunities
• Active scenic farms, both small and large
• Residential subdivisions that include open space preservation and buffering from ag lands
• Rural neighborhoods that respect working farms
Most goals, objectives and strategies offered in the current Comprehensive Plan pertain to the following
four topics.
Preservation and Protection
The Plan emphasizes and provides strategies for the preservation of rural and agricultural character and
specifically protection of the following elements:
1. View corridors and view sheds as experienced from the perspective of the traveling public along
major routes
2. Open space and distinctive natural features such as rolling hills, woodlands, native prairie, lakes,
wildlife habitat
3. Cultural and historic resources
4. Prime farmlands and grazing areas
5. Environmentally sensitive areas such as riparian areas, steep slopes, wetlands, floodplains and
wildlife habitat
These features are included on the following maps in the Plan (attached), which are intended to assist with
review of land use, zoning and development applications:
• Map of Known Sensitive Habitat Areas
• Development Criteria: Natural Features and Cultural Attributes Map
• General Soils Map
• Agricultural Enhancement Map
• Commercial and Industrial Area Map
New Development
The Plan supports the following strategies for new development:
1. Concentrate new development around existing cities (3-mile radius) and associated areas of urban
influence where there are urban services or they can be more efficiently provided.
2. Discourage spot development in agricultural areas.
3. Promote development of existing vacant lots.
4. Promote conservation subdivisions/cluster development with open space dedication.
5. Encourage buffering and transitions to improve compatibility.
6. Provide “Right-to-Farm” nuisance protection provisions.
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7. Focus on public infrastructure projects that do not encourage urban sprawl, and that support
development in designated growth areas around cities and at Perry Lake.
8. Encourage cities to plan for new development based on drainage basins and ridgelines that
influence placement of municipal utility system extensions.
The plan suggests preserving a density ratio of 1 dwelling unit per 40 acres to address agricultural
economics and preservation of rural character.
Economic Development
The Plan supports the following strategies for economic development:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Enhance existing subdivisions/underutilized lots at Lake Perry.
Enhance/preserve transportation assets at Lake Perry.
Incentivize development in designated development areas.
Support ag-related business including ag-related retail.
Support complementary rural business/recreation/tourist opportunities.
Encourage commercial development in areas along major highways and in city limits.

Development Review
The following development review strategies are intended to help implement the vision of the Plan:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Site Plan Review
Land Evaluation and Site Assessment (LESA)
Soil classifications
Agricultural density ratios of 1 unit/40 acres; require platting for anything under 40 acres

ANALYSIS OF PLAN AND REGULATION COMPATIBILITY
Development regulations can never anticipate all the changes that may occur as the community develops.
Therefore, some flexibility must be built into regulations while maintaining a focus on the intent or vision as
articulated in the plan. The intent statements of development regulations should be compatible with the
vision of the Comprehensive Plan, and when used as part of the development review criteria, these intent
statements bring the plan to life and ensure flexibility with a clear focus. Applicable Intent Statements of
the Zoning and Subdivision Regulations are included in the Appendices. This section provides an analysis
of how well existing regulations reflect implementation of the major themes of the Comprehensive Plan.

Preservation and Protection
Natural Features and Cultural Attributes
The Development Criteria Map: Natural Features and Cultural Attributes (attached) identifies features such
as ridge lines, grasslands, view corridors, view sheds, wildlife areas, vistas, historic structures, and areas of
urban influence. This map is not a definitive guide, however, as it is largely conceptual and not
comprehensive. For example, wildlife areas only include those on Corp of Engineers property. A more
comprehensive approach would include connected areas of dense timber or forest, all wetlands and
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floodplains, wooded stream corridors and wildlands. Other areas for consideration are those locations
where certain activities may impact water quality. It may be beneficial to perform a comprehensive Natural
Resource Inventory to be included on a feature overlay map.
Currently this information is relevant to decisions on Rezoning and Conditional Use applications as one of
several criteria for approval. The criterion asks whether the proposed amendment is in conformance to and
further enhances the implementation of the Comprehensive Plan. Desired level of impact may be less than
intended since this information is only one of several criteria, and the plan is not very specific about how
to use this information for decision-making.
To be regulatory, such information could be the basis for establishing one or more zoning overlay districts
with specific boundaries (like zoning district boundaries), or shown as a buffer of a certain width around
other mapped features. Overlay regulations are enforced along with underlying base zoning district
standards and may include additional requirements to protect these features.
Examples of such
requirements may include:
•
•
•

View Sheds, View Corridors, Vistas: Height restrictions for structures, further restrictions on density
of development, and maintenance of vegetated cover and vegetated buffers.
Lakes and Streams: Riperian buffer provisions designed to limit activities, impervious surfaces, and
vegetation removal within designated distances from ordinary high-water marks.
Grasslands and wildlife areas: Limit uses to passive recreation, minimum setbacks for adjacent
uses and structures, tree preservation provisions, minimum open space requirements.

Performance Standards may also be used to implement some of the protection standards above.
Performance standards should be articulated based on impacts rather than uses.
Chapter 5 of the Comprehensive Plan provides some model standards for Site Plan Review that are
recommended for adoption through the Zoning Regulations, and are intended to be applicable to any
change in land use or rezoning other than single-family and two-family dwellings. The recommended site
plan review criteria require the applicant to demonstrate the extent to which the development in the “View
Shed and View Corridor Overlay District” achieves certain objectives. These provisions have not yet been
implemented in the Zoning Regulations.
Known Sensitive Habitat Areas
Like the features on the Development Criteria Map: Natural Features and Cultural Attributes, the information
on the Map of Known Sensitive Habitat Areas is made relevant during decisions on Rezoning and Conditional
Use applications as one of several criteria for approval. However, the map is not very specific or detailed
in identifying sensitive habitat areas including natural plant communities, rare plants, and rare animals. It
is meant to allow for early notification of potential resource conflicts, such as converting a valuable tall
grass prairie to cropland (an action which would not currently trigger regulatory review), or suburban
development of endangered species habitat (not currently addressed in Subdivision Regulation criteria, but
could be considered as part of rezoning approval). The Plan recommends that a comprehensive natural
survey be performed to incorporate this information as land use evaluation criteria. Although wetlands
and woodlands are very important habitat areas, they are not indicated on the Known Sensitive Habitat
Areas map or elsewhere in the Comprehensive Plan.
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Prime Farmlands and Grazing Areas

“Ironically, it is the open fields and scenic farms that attract the very growth that then
begins to limit the farm’s capacity to remain an economically viable part of the working
landscape.” Chapter 1 of the Jefferson County KS Comprehensive Plan

The primary challenges in maintaining private lands for agricultural use include the impacts of profitability,
development pressures, and protecting the farm from conflicting land uses. These challenges are discussed
not in terms of policy here, but just in how these factors may be impacted by regulation. Any Comprehensive
Plan amendment process should include farmland preservation as a key topic, and involve the farm
community in public input. If a large portion of existing farmers do not see a future in farming, there is little
that government can do to preserve these lands for active agriculture.
One factor of profitability that comes into play in preservation of farmlands is the amount of development
pressure. Farms are businesses and the largest asset the private family may own. If regulations allow nonagricultural development to occur on or near these lands, it may be tempting for farmers to sell the land
for these conversions. Development is drawn to prime farmland because it is the easiest and cheapest to
develop.
The Comprehensive Plan recommends implementation of the Land Evaluation and Site Assessment (LESA)
system and soil classifications as a component of development review to assist local officials in making
decisions related to the conversion of farmland to non-agricultural uses. This system was developed by the
U.S. Department of Agriculture to identify high-quality farmland with prospects for long-term viability for
agricultural production. Currently, this system is not regulatory as it is part of the Comprehensive Plan, but
it does provide for an objective, case specific analysis. More details are provided in the Section on
Development Review.
Another strategy is to perform a future land use analysis as part of a land use planning exercise, and
designate areas on a future land use map for primarily agricultural uses in large and smaller lot sizes. This
might be implemented in the zoning and subdivision regulations as two separate agricultural zoning districts
where agriculture is permitted as a primary use while limiting nonfarm-related uses. For example, the
County could maintain the minimum lot size of 40 acres in more remote areas of the County that have larger
lots and working farms, and establish a new agricultural zone with minimum lot size of 25 acres in areas
where smaller specialty farms could be encouraged. This strategy may create opportunities that are more
affordable for new farmers and are more compatible with nearby residential developments. Limiting the
lot size for dwellings in these districts would help preserve more of the area for farming. For example, a
2-acre maximum lot size for non-farm development is common in agricultural zones. A complimentary
strategy is to identify specific areas for rural residential development with smaller lots (3- to 25- acres) on
lower quality soils away from working farm areas, with an overall density cap to help limit the number,
size and siting of nonfarm parcels allowed.
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New Development
What is the vision for appropriate rural residential subdivisions offered in the Plan?
•

•

Small-lot (3-acre or smaller) subdivisions served by paved roads, community sanitary services, and
internal access from major county or state roads, and buffered from adjacent farmlands via open
space preservation and buffers.
5- to 10-acre lot conservation subdivisions or cluster development where overall density is one unit
per three acres or less.

The Plan notes the cumulative impact of rural residential development over time based on conflicts with
farm neighbors and problems with sewage disposal that negatively impact water quality. It is important
for this kind of development (also called rural sprawl) to happen nearer to existing settlements, and not to
leapfrog into mostly rural areas so that natural areas and working landscapes are fragmented. Requiring
paved roads, curbs and gutters, storm drains, and sewer lines with new subdivisions can help ensure fewer
farmlands, forestlands and environmentally sensitive areas are developed, or if they are, there are fewer
negative impacts such as reduced water quality.
Concentrated Development Around Cities
The plan suggests that higher densities be permitted in the areas of urban influence. Typically this would
be indicated in a future land use map describing desired densities and development patterns for the entire
county. The Plan currently does not have such a future land use map. The implementation of these future
densities will depend on market forces and the willingness of the cities to incentivize annexation in those
areas.
This goal is impacted by the availability of land for desired development within the 3-mile radius of cities,
the market desirability of such location, and the perceived advantages of locating in these areas. One
such benefit may be access to high speed internet service, which may not be accessible in remote parts of
the county. Another benefit may be access to City services. However, this is only an advantage if it
perceived as affordable and of greater benefit than on-site services in the country.
Promote Development of Vacant Lots
This goal requires further study of the lots that are available for development and the factors limiting such
development. Local realtors and homeowner associations may be a valuable source of information on
these issues, and may be able to assist in promoting these lots for sale. The County should host focus group
meetings or hold individual interviews to get more information before deciding on a strategy. However,
the County Land Bank may provide an opportunity for assembly and development of some of the
underutilized lots in subdivisions near Lake Perry, and regulatory flexibility may be necessary.
Smart Rural Development – Density and Open Space
The Subdivision Ordinance includes the following applicable definitions:
•

Cluster Subdivision: A form of development for single-family residential subdivisions that permits a
reduction in lot area and bulk requirements, provided that there is no increase in the number of lots
permitted under a conventional subdivision and the resultant land area is devoted to open space.
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•

The clustering design technique concentrates building in specific areas on the site to allow the
remaining land to be set aside for recreation, meaningful common open space and preservation of
environmentally sensitive features.
Open Space, Common: Land within or related to a development, not individually owned or
dedicated for use, that is designed and intended for the common use or enjoyment of the residents
of the development and may include such complementary structures and improvements as are
necessary and appropriate. Common open space is platted as a Reserve and is owned and
maintained by a Homeowners Association.

Although the term Cluster Subdivision is defined in the Subdivision Regulations, the term is not used in the
Regulations. The term Cluster Development is mentioned in relation to internal street layout for residential
developments, where it is encouraged in residential areas when appropriate. The Zoning Regulations use
the term Cluster Housing which refers to grouping dwelling units around courts, common open spaces and
private drives instead of fronting individually on streets. This is not necessarily the same thing as a Cluster
or Conservation Subdivision.
Cluster development (also known as conservation or cluster subdivisions) can help integrate natural features
with new development, and typically is designed to protect at least 50% of the developable area as open
space. Best practices provide that development density should be calculated on only the buildable land
area (do not count nonbuildable land when calculating allowed density for development). Although cluster
development can sometimes preserve open space, which may include farmland, it is not effective in
protecting commercial farm operations. Concentrated development in rural areas can also contribute to
groundwater overdraft or contamination of groundwater from septic system failure. Cluster development
is most suitable in areas adjacent to existing built areas where services can be provided. In such cases, an
appropriate density is 4 to 10 units per acre, with 50-60% open space used as public park and trails.
Outside the urban area of influence, an appropriate density is one unit per 5 acres, 50-70% open space,
and use of the open space for a working landscape, natural area, open space buffer or park. In more
remote areas, an appropriate density is one unit per 10 acres, 50-80% open space, and use of the open
space for a working landscape, natural area, open space buffer or park.
Open space is impacted by development regulations that control density, and subdivision regulations that
require the dedication of open space on subdivision plats. Currently the Jefferson County Subdivision
Regulations do not require a certain percentage of dedicated open space for each subdivision, or the use
of conservation subdivision or cluster development concepts. However, the regulations state that the
Planning Commission MAY require the dedication or reservation of areas of a character, extent, and
location suitable to needs created by the development for schools, parks, and other public or open spaces,
but that this shall not constitute an acceptance of the dedication by the County.
It is important to establish who will manage such dedicated open spaces. This need not be limited to
homeowner associations. If the space is to be privately managed, it may be neglected with the subsequent
failure of a homeowner association or other management group. Such lands may be leased to farmers,
placed in a conservation easement, or transferred to a land trust. It may be appropriate for the County
to accept the dedication of open spaces that will serve public recreational or environmental goals. The
County could reduce the amount of required open space to encourage public dedication.
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Buffering and Transitions for Rural Compatibility
Strategies should recognize that not every large-scale conventional farm furthers the Plan vision for rural
character. At minimum, the regulations should require an environmental impact statement for industrial-scale
agricultural uses and enable land use controls to minimize environmental impacts and screen uses from
public roadways and adjacent uses. An environmental impact assessment could also be required for any
major proposed subdivisions in agricultural areas.
To protect farms from nuisance lawsuits and habitat areas from human impacts, the Subdivision Ordinance
could establish minimum setbacks of 100 feet for nonfarm residences from farms and woodlands (or other
designated natural features), and require perimeter berms or buffers to be maintained around subdivisions
to reduce visual impacts and prevent blowing of dust or chemicals into the neighborhood.
Similar visual buffers should be enabled for commercial or industrial uses that locate adjacent to agricultural
or residential uses. One way to achieve this is to assign Land Intensity Codes to various uses based on
anticipated level of impact, and then design a series of buffers (detailed dimension and plant requirements)
that are tied to the Land Intensity Codes, to be implemented with new development or substantial
redevelopment. Flexibility should be built into this process for case-by-case assessments.
Right-to-Farm Nuisance Protection
Section 1-106 of the Zoning Ordinance proclaims Right-to-Farm nuisance protection for agricultural
purposes, which is one strategy for farmland protection mentioned in the Comprehensive Plan. However,
this protection extends beyond primary agricultural uses in the agricultural district, including protection for
agricultural activities that are accessory to rural residential and suburban residential uses as well. Owners,
occupants and users of adjacent property are advised that they should be prepared to accept the
customary inconveniences or discomforts arising from normal and accepted agricultural practices and
operations, and that State Statute may bar them from legal judgment against agricultural operations.
The intent statement of the Agricultural District provides that land used for agricultural purposes as defined
in the regulations are exempt from restrictions or limitations except for floodplain regulations and setback
requirements from major roadways. Fees are also waived for building permits for structures used for
agricultural purposes. These are in effect a development incentive for agricultural uses.
Performance standards for the Agricultural district provide that agricultural uses are permitted with no
restrictions as to operation of such vehicles or machinery as are customarily incidental to such uses (not to
include accumulation of garbage or rubbish).

Economic Development
Support ag-related business including ag-related retail and complementary rural
business/recreation/tourist opportunities
The Zoning Regulations provide that land used for “Agricultural Purposes” is permitted as a primary use in
the AG district. This is defined as the production of plants, animals or horticultural products with a list of
typical crops and domestic animals, but also including horses, bees, trees and forest products, fruits, nuts,
berries, vegetables and nursery, floral and greenhouse products. This definition does NOT include
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recreational purposes; the operation of retail greenhouses, nurseries or hydroponic farms; and riding
stables which would require a Conditional Use Permit. However, the performance standards for the AG
District do state there are no restrictions to the sale or marketing of products raised on the premises, and
such activities are permitted accessory uses.
Currently potential farm activities like farm stays not qualifying as guest houses (such as accessory
apartments); retail sales of products not produced on-site; retail greenhouses, nurseries and/or hydroponic
farms; breeding/boarding kennels; riding stables and/or show arenas or rodeo arenas require approval
of a Conditional Use Permit. Special events like harvest dinners and farm tours are accommodated with
Special Events permits.
To encourage economic development activities associated with farms, the County could consider permitting
a greater variety of activities by right provided certain performance standards are met, so that farmers
do not need to submit development plans for approval or go through the conditional use permit process.
Encourage commercial development in areas along major highways and in city limits
In 2009 the Comprehensive Plan was amended to include a Commercial/Industrial Area Map to identify
areas appropriate for commercial or industrial planned zoning district designation. The criteria for such
designation is not explained, except within an objective supporting commercial development along major
highways and in city limits. The Zoning Regulations note that the planned commercial and industrial districts
are restricted to those areas shown on this map. Therefore, this map can be enforced through regulations.
Proposed development would proceed with an application to rezone to the most appropriate planned
district, and submit a development plan for approval. Each planned district includes a list of permitted
uses. Once a development is established, it could be converted to any of those permitted uses without
triggering the zoning amendment process, provided any revisions or alterations to the property are in
accordance with the approved or amended Development Plan.
Commercial or industrial uses that are proposed for other locations may be permitted through the
Conditional Use Permit process which also requires approval of a Development Plan. The Zoning
Regulations are very vague on what would trigger a Conditional Use amendment, identifying only
subsequent requests for additions and structural alterations. Approved Conditional Uses may continue as
long as all conditions of approval are met and the use is not discontinued for a period of one year or more.
This does not address changes in the specific use, which could include different operational concerns and
trigger the need to meet other specific use standards not addressed in the application.

Development Review
The Jefferson County Zoning Regulations provide that any change in land use other than single-family or
two-family residential be reviewed by the Planning Commission and approved by the County Commission
before building permits can be issued.
Site Plan Review
The Comprehensive Plan contains Site Plan Review procedures and standards that are cited for use in
review of development proposals. However, being presented as part of the Comprehensive Plan, those
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procedures and standards provide only guidance and are non-regulatory. Such standards may be offered
as an example of model regulations in the plan, and then be implemented as part of the Zoning Regulations.
Land Evaluation and Site Assessment (LESA)
The LESA system was development by the NRCS to help local communities identify lower quality farmland
for future development and to protect highly productive farmland on a case-by-case basis, because ruling
on farmland conversions is often difficult. The advantage is the system is objective, numerically based and
flexible. It is important to customize the factors and weights to reflect local context and priorities. The
LESA system that is recommended for implementation during the development review process, but which
has not been added to the Zoning Regulations, includes two major areas of analysis including:
•
•

Land evaluation based on soil properties (see below).
Site assessment based on 18 factors such as adjacent uses and zoning districts, size of site to be
converted, proximity to cities and schools, whether the proposed development is clustered,
perceived environmental impact, type and amount of proposed open space, view protection, public
service provision, and perceived public costs/benefits.

There is a need to clarify how this analysis applies to specific development requests. For example, is large
lot residential development an agricultural conversion since dwellings are considered to be compatible with
agricultural uses, and agriculture can still take place on smaller lots? The Agricultural Lot Split process may
result in an average of two-dwellings per 40-acres while retaining agricultural zoning. It may then be
reasonable to apply the LESA analysis to all proposals for divisions of land resulting in an average greater
than two dwellings per 40 acres.
It is recommended that some sample analyses be performed using the LESA analysis for specific sites with
known qualities to see if the resultant score is effective in rating farmlands most deserving of protection. It
may be necessary to customize the factors and weights to better reflect local context.
Consider soil classifications
Soil classifications in the plan that are intended to identify protected farmlands tend to reflect a
conventional agriculture focus. Categories consider yields-per-acre with corn as the basis for potential
yield. It would be helpful to utilize other characteristics of the NRCS soil data to map areas such as those
with limited development potential to inform a future land use map, or those with prime farmlands that
could be overlaid with sensitive environmental features for protection.
Preserve agricultural density ratios of 1 unit/40 acres, and require platting for anything under
40 acres
The Jefferson County Zoning Regulations require a minimum lot size of 40 acres in the Agricultural District.
However, the Zoning Regulations also authorize the creation of one additional lot on lands used for
agricultural purposes without requiring a rezoning. The Subdivision Regulations provide for this Agricultural
Lot Split process, which involves administrative approval. Per this process, an agricultural density ratio of
2 units per 40 acres could theoretically be achieved if every eligible 40 acres was so divided. The process
is limited by minimum frontage requirements and lot depth/width ratios, however.

Plan Compatibility Report
Page 39 of 53

Page 12

Accessory dwellings (not including temporary occupancy) are also permitted in the AG district if used for
farm employees/families on land used for agricultural purposes (but not as a rental unit).

Other Considerations
The minimum lot size in the Suburban Residential District should be amended to reflect current Health
Department regulations of at least a 2-acre minimum for on-site septic systems. Currently it is 1-acre
minimum. The 2-acre standard provides for the relocation of a septic field if the system fails among other
environmental benefits. A 3-acre minimum would align with regulations for raising of animals on small lots.
Intent and purpose statements should be added for Conditional Use Permits and nonconforming lots,
structures, and uses.

DISCUSSION – PLANNING FOR FUTURE COMPATIBILITY
Growth Influences
The Commission may wish to discuss the following factors that may influence growth patterns:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

Suitability for on-site sanitary systems and their environmental impact
Available water supply
Water quality
Availability of high-quality internet services to accommodate remote work
Quality of roads and the level of service that can be maintained based on community revenues
Minimum frontage requirements combined with lot depth/width limits
Willingness to pay for urban services such as streets and community sanitary systems
Trend to accommodate family nearby, or split farms among family members as part of an estate
People using land resources as wealth for retirement

Other Ideas for Explor ation
1.
2.

3.
4.
5.
6.

Develop detailed data layers for areas of special consideration, and utilize that information in a
build-out analysis to visualize the impact of current or proposed regulations at full buildout.
Update population and housing trend information and look for area housing studies, and consider
this when designating enough area for diverse residential development to meet needs for the
next 20 years.
Set benchmarks for the retention of farmland, forestland, and open space reflecting an
acceptable number of acres lost over time to development.
Explore the impact of remote work and internet access on future development.
Work with applicable partners to implement Agricultural Conservation Easements, Wetland
Reserve Easements and other special protection areas.
Consider offering incentives such as a density bonus or more diverse uses in the rural area in
exchange for implementation of other identified community benefits. For example, provide for
additional uses to be permitted by right on working farms, such as agri-tourism, farm stays, etc.
Or permit lot splits or accessory dwellings that would not otherwise be permitted in exchange for
owners agreeing to preserve a certain percentage of farmlands or wild lands through a
conservation easement in perpetuity, or to plant and maintain more trees in a conservation
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easement on a certain percentage of the land area (may help provide opportunity for interior
lots that are long and narrow and cannot meet frontage or lot depth/width ratios).

Summary of Recommendations
1.
2.

3.

4.
5.

6.

7.

8.
9.
10.
11.

12.

13.
14.
15.
16.

Review all Intent and Purpose statements of the Zoning and Subdivision regulations and all
decision criteria, and ensure these statements and criteria align with Comprehensive Plan goals.
Perform a comprehensive Natural Resource Inventory of features to serve as the foundation for
one or more zoning overlay districts, performance standards, or decision criteria related directly
to preservation and protection of these features.
Consider including the LESA analysis as part of the decision criteria for applicable zoning
amendment and development review processes. This should include clarifying when the analysis
is applicable, and customizing the factors and weights to reflect local context.
Consider using the LESA analysis factors in a more generalized way to inform a future land use
map, and to synchronize each future land use descriptions with applicable zoning district(s).
Consider establishing an additional agricultural zoning district with a 25-acre minimum lot size,
and implementing a maximum lot size of 2-3 acres for non-agricultural residential uses in the
agricultural zones, preserving more land for working farms.
Consider identifying specific areas for rural residential development with smaller lots (3- to 25acres) on lower quality soils away from working farms, with an overall density cap to help limit
the number, size and siting of nonfarm parcels allowed.
Consider requiring paved roads, curbs and gutters, storm drains, and sewer lines or community
on-site sanitary systems with new subdivisions to discourage large-lot rural sprawl and protect
the environment.
Consider adding regulatory flexibility to incentivize the development of undeveloped lots in
existing subdivisions.
Consider regulations for required open space dedication with future subdivision plats to further
preservation of natural features.
Consider enabling a requirement for an environmental impact assessment for major proposed
subdivisions in agricultural areas, and for large-scale industrial agricultural uses.
Enable land use controls to improve compatibility between uses, minimize environmental impacts,
separate non-farm residences or commercial/industrial uses from working farm and woodlands,
and buffer or screen uses from public roadways and adjacent uses. Consider using Land Intensity
Codes to designate required buffer types.
Consider permitting a greater variety of activities by right on lands used for agricultural purposes,
provided certain performance standards are met, so that farmers do not need to submit
development plans or go through the Conditional Use Permit approval process.
Clarify the triggers for amending Conditional Uses.
Use soil data in a different way to inform the future land use map.
Amend minimum lot area to two or three acres in the Suburban Residential District or when on-site
septic systems are used.
Add complimentary Intent and Purpose statements for Conditional Use Permits and nonconforming
lots, structures, and uses in the Zoning Regulations.
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APPENDIX A PARCEL DISTRIBUTION IN UNINCORPORATED AREAS
Number of Parcels per Zoning District
21,000
20,000
19,000
18,000
17,000
16,000
15,000
14,000
13,000
12,000
11,000
10,000
9,000
8,000
7,000
6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000
0

# Parcels
20,319
8,668
7,114
2,473
20,135
827
1
69
38
8
15
26
10

AG
RR
SR
R-1
LL
V-1
CP1
CP2
CP3
IP1
IP2
I-2
I-3

Acres in Zoning Districts
334,962

20,324
80,077

1,539

Agricultural
Rural Residential
Suburban Residential

2,847,179

All other residential
Commercial/Industrial
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APPENDIX B ZONING REGULATIONS INTENT STATEMENTS
1-101 Title: These regulations, including the Zoning District maps and overlays made a part thereof, shall
be known and may be cited as the "Zoning Regulations of Jefferson County, Kansas", and shall hereinafter
be referred to as "these Regulations."
1-102 Purpose: These Regulations are intended to serve the following purposes:
1.

To promote the health, safety, morals, comfort and general welfare of the citizens of Jefferson
County, Kansas.

2.

To create a variety of zoning districts sensitive to the peculiarities of the various permitted uses
and designed to protect and enhance the values inherent in each zone; while encouraging the
redevelopment and revitalization of the cities within the County.

3.

To conserve good agricultural land and protect it from the intrusion of incompatible uses, but not
to regulate or restrict the primary use of land for agricultural uses.

4.

To regulate and restrict the height, number of stories, and size of buildings; the percentage of
lots that may be occupied by buildings and other structures; size of yards, courts, and other open
spaces.

5.

To provide for adequate light and air, and acceptable noise levels.

6.

To avoid the undue concentration of populations and to prevent overcrowding in the use of land
and community facilities.

7.

To provide adequate notice on subsequent changes to these regulations and an opportunity for
interested parties to be heard.

8.

To provide information regarding possible flood hazards.

9.

To facilitate the adequate provisions of transportation, water, sewage, schools, parks, and other
public improvements and services, and to carry out the goals and objectives as set forth in
applicable laws of the State of Kansas and the Comprehensive Plan for Jefferson County, Kansas.

10. To promote the achievement of the Future Land Use Plan for Jefferson County, Kansas.
11. To inform the public regarding future development in Jefferson County, Kansas, thereby providing
a basis for wise decisions with respect to such development.

APPENDIX B ZONING DISTRICT SUMMARY
•

Agricultural (AG) District: Minimum 40 acres. Provide for a full range of agricultural activities
on land used for agricultural purposes, including processing and sale of agricultural products raised
on the premises; and at the same time offer protection to land used for agricultural purposes from
the depreciating effect of objectionable, hazardous, incompatible and unsightly uses. The District is
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•

•

•

•

•

•

also intended to protect watersheds and water supplies; to protect forest and scenic areas; to
conserve fish and wildlife habitat; to promote forestry; and to prevent and/or discourage untimely
scattering of suburban residential, rural residential, and/or more dense urban development.
Rural Residential (RR) District: Minimum 10 acres. The purpose of this District is to provide for
platted rural, low-density developments that retain the character of a rural area with very limited
residential development. This District is intended to accommodate low-density rural residential
development and to serve as a transition from agricultural lands to more dense, suburban
development. Hence, it is suitable in rural locations where adequate roads and services are
available, but it is not suitable in all rural locations. It is inappropriate in areas predominately
agricultural in character where services are adequate only to meet the needs of farm residences
and farm operations.
Suburban Residential (SF) District: Minimum 1 acre. The purpose of this District is to provide for
the platted development of low-density residential neighborhoods that retain the character of the
basically rural area and yet allow an influx of residential development. This district is limited to
those areas of Jefferson County where adequate water, sewage disposal and other infrastructure
presently exists; or may be approved outside such areas only when adequate water, sewage
disposal and other infrastructure, as well as the delivery of support services can be demonstrated
and proved to the satisfaction of the County.
Single-Family Residential (R-1) District: Minimum 20,000 square feet lot. The purpose of this
District is to provide for platted single-family residential development of a more urban character
where public sanitary sewers and water, and other necessary public utilities and services are
present to support the development. As such, it is intended to be used only where such public utilities
and services are present to serve such development. The District is also designed to protect and
preserve existing development of a similar character.
Single-Family Lake Lot Residential (LL) District: Minimum 5,000 square feet lot. The purpose of
this District is to establish a district that recognizes the lake lots previously created and to maintain
overall densities and development standards historically contained within those developments. The
District is not to be used for the creation of additional lots of a similar nature.
Village (V-2) District: No min. lot size. This District is designed to encourage the continued
existence of small unincorporated "villages" (i.e. town sites platted many years ago and intended
to become cities, but which never incorporated or became cities) by placing very narrow restrictions
on their use and further development. No development of new "villages" is contemplated under
these provisions and only fill-in type development of existing "villages" with low intensity uses is
intended.
Planned Light Commercial (CP-1) District: Minimum 1 acre. The purpose of this District is to
provide for limited retail shopping and personal service uses to be developed either as a unit or in
individual parcels to serve the needs of nearby residential areas. Such development shall be
restricted to those areas of unincorporated Jefferson County that are shown on the Future
Commercial/Industrial Development Map in the Jefferson County Comprehensive Plan and should
be at or near the intersection of paved roads, accessible to public water, and supportable without
major on-site wastewater treatment systems.
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Planned General Commercial (CP-2) District: Minimum 1 acre. The purpose of this District is to
provide sufficient space in appropriate locations for certain commercial and service activities within
the County. Such development shall be restricted to those areas of unincorporated Jefferson County
that are shown on the Future Commercial/Industrial Development Map in the Jefferson County
Comprehensive Plan and shall be at or near the intersection of paved roads, be accessible to public
water, and have access to public sewers or advanced on-site wastewater treatment systems.
Planned General Commercial (CP-3) District: Minimum 1 acre. The purpose of this District is to
provide space in appropriate locations, along the existing major highways or major paved county
roads for those uses of a more intensive nature that are clearly commercial in nature but which
require more land area to function efficiently. Such development shall be restricted to those areas
of unincorporated Jefferson County that are shown on the Future Commercial/Industrial
Development Map in the Jefferson County Comprehensive Plan and shall be at or near the
intersection of paved roads, be accessible to public water, and have access to public sewers or
advanced on-site wastewater treatment systems.
Planned Light Industrial (IP-1) District: Minimum 2 acres. This District is intended primarily for
light manufacturing, fabricating, warehousing, and wholesale distributing in low buildings with offstreet loading and off-street parking for employees, and with access by major streets and/or
railroads. This district is intended to be established mainly as an Industrial Park and not for use on
individual lots or tracts. Such development shall be accessible to public water and have access to
public sewers or advanced on-site wastewater treatment systems.
Planned Medium Industrial (IP-2) District: Minimum 2 acres. This District provides for industrial
operations that are more intensive in nature and, as a result, require more consideration in siting,
and greater access to major facilities and services such as highways, railroads, utilities, etc. Such
development shall be accessible to public water and have access to public sewers or advanced onsite wastewater treatment systems.
Airport Overlay (AO) District: The Airport Overlay District is designed to establish an airport zone
surrounding Philip Billard Airport in Shawnee County and to protect those using the airport from
hazards that might be erected or constructed on surrounding properties. To this end, the District
establishes additional restrictions on uses of property that may be more strict than those of the
underlying district. When this occurs, the more strict requirements apply.
Floodplain (FP) District: Applies to lands in special flood hazard areas in all of Jefferson County
except the lands within incorporated cities. It is the purpose of this Article to promote the public
health, safety, and general welfare; to minimize those losses described in Section 14-101(2)(A); to
establish or maintain the community’s eligibility for participation in the National Flood Insurance
Program (NFIP) as defined in 44 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 59.22(a)(3); and to meet the
requirements of 44 CFR 60.3(d) and K.A.R. 5-44-4 by applying the provisions of this Article to:
o Restrict or prohibit uses that are dangerous to health, safety, or property in times of flooding
or cause undue increases in flood heights or velocities;
o Require uses vulnerable to floods, including public facilities that serve such uses, be provided
with flood protection at the time of initial construction; and
o Protect individuals from buying lands that are unsuited for the intended development
purposes due to the flood hazard.
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Floodwater Retarding Dam Breach Impact (FRD) District: Applies to lands below Floodwater
Retarding Dams that would be subject to substantial flooding with a dam breach. As such, this
Article is intended to promote the public health, safety, and general welfare and to minimize these
losses by taking action to:
o Restrict or prohibit uses which are dangerous to health, safety, or property in the FRD breach
impact area, or which might cause undue increase in flood heights; and,
o Protect individuals from buying lands for the purpose of building in the FRD breach impact
area which is unsuited for intended purposes because of flood hazard.

APPENDIX C SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS INTENT STATEMENTS
1-101 Title and Scope: These regulations shall be known and may be cited as the "Subdivision Regulations
of Jefferson County, Kansas", and shall hereinafter be referred to as "these regulations." These regulations
prescribe the minimum design requirements and approval procedures for the development of new
subdivisions and resubdivisions of land within Jefferson County, Kansas.
1-102 Purpose and Authority: The division and improvement of land for non-agricultural development
has a significant and lasting impact upon the physical environment of Jefferson County, Kansas, and it
places increasing demands upon public facilities and services, and ultimately the taxpayers. The creation
of new streets, lots and utility systems requires significant public and private capital investments. Failure to
properly size and construct adequate roads, ensure available water supplies and wastewater treatment
capabilities, manage storm water runoff and erosion, and plan for public services may result in physical
and environmental problems which are difficult and costly to resolve. The importance of assuring the
compatibility of new development with the plans and needs of Jefferson County must be protected in the
interest of the public health, safety and general welfare.
These regulations set forth uniform rules and procedures for the division and improvement of real property
for non-agricultural uses within Jefferson County, to assure that new subdivisions are properly planned and
integrated with existing streets, utilities and other public facilities systems. These regulations are further
intended to prevent potential environmental hazards; to coordinate the use of private and public resources
to achieve planned and orderly non-agricultural land development through proper location and design of
roads, building lines, open spaces, and utilities; and to establish standards by which roads, utilities and
other physical improvements shall be erected, constructed or installed.
The authority of Jefferson County, Kansas, in the adoption of these Subdivision Regulations is taken from
K.S.A. 12-741, et seq, and amendment thereto. In particular, these Regulations are intended to provide
for:
1. the efficient and orderly location of streets;
2. the reduction of vehicular congestion;
3. the reservation or dedication of land for open spaces;
4. off-site and on-site public improvements;
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5. recreational facilities which may include, but are not limited to, the dedication of land area for
park purposes;
6. flood protection;
7. the establishment of building lines;
8. the compatibility of design; and,
9. any other services, facilities and improvements deemed necessary.
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PLANNING AND ZONING DIVISION

Memo: Item 8 New Business II
To:

Planning Commission

From: Kelly Drake Woodward, AICP
Date:

February 22, 2021

RE:

Consider initiation of text amendment TA2021-01 to the Jefferson County Zoning Regulations
pertaining to the issuance of zoning certificates/building permits

On February 2, 2021, I met with the County Commission to ask for assistance in determining whether the
current Subdivision Regulations require proof of available water supply at time of application for an
Agricultural Lot Split. The application requirements have long included a request to provide a letter from
the applicable Rural Water District stating that they service the area (if not that particular site), and that
it is possible to get water to the site (if not currently obtained). Otherwise, the applicant would indicate
the site was serviced by a well.
County Attorney Josh Ney stated that per his interpretation of the current regulations, proof of water
supply is not required at time of application for an Agricultural Lot Split like it is for Plats applications, even
though it may have been a best practice. He further stated that if the County wanted to require this, the
Regulations should be amended for clarification.
Steve Tufte, Oskaloosa surveyor, advocated to the Commission to not require proof of water supply for ag
lot split applications, stating that surrounding counties require it at time of application for a building
permit, not a land division.
By consensus, the Board determined, based on counsel opinion, that there is no requirement for proof of
water supply on ag lot split applications and the Board directed the zoning staff to update the application.
County Attorney Josh Ney stated that the County may wish to review the requirements for zoning
certificates/building permits to ensure that the language requiring proof of water supply is adequate in
the applicable sections of the zoning regulations.
Requested Action:
Initiate potential text amendment TA2021-01 to sections of the Zoning Regulations pertaining to Zoning
Certificate/Building Permit application and approval.
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